Democratic and Popular Republic of Algeria Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research



SALHI Ahmed University CentreofNaama Faculty of Letters and Languages English Department

An Evaluation of the Algerian Third-Year Primary School

Textbook "My Book of English"

Dissertation Submitted to the Department of Englishas a Partial Fulfilment oftherequirementforthedegreeofMasterinLinguistics

PRESENTED BY:

SUPERVISEDBY: Mrs.Bekhta BELAID

-Miss.Somia BENSLIMANE -Mr.Ahmed Abdelhadi BENELHADJ DJALLOUL

BOARD OF EXAMINERS

Dr. Karima BENHEDDI

Chairperson

Mrs.Bekhta BELAID

Supervisor

Dr. Nabila EL HADJ SAID Ex

Examiner

Naama University Centre

Naama University Centre

Naama University Centre

AcademicYear: 2022-2023

Dedication

In fond memory of my sister Nadjet

*This dissertation is dedicated to you my parents. You have taught me to fight,

to win, to enjoy the taste of success, but never to give up. For you, I say:

"To the one who taught me the meaning of patience

To the wonderful woman in this world

My dear Mother

To the person who always makes me proud of my works

To the most respected man in this world

My dear Father"

I ask HLLHH to make you happy, make you smile, guide you safely through

every mile, grant you wealth, give you health, and most of all grant you PHRHDISE.

To my dearest brother and sisters: Abdou, Fatima, Kaltoum, Habiba, Asma and Abla

To all my sweetest niblings

To all who know me and all whom I know

Dedication

I dedicate my work to

the soul of my **father**

the candle that still burn in order to light my way

the angel that paradise is under her feet

the dearest woman that gives without price

My Mother

the flower of my family, my sister Nadjet

My relatives and my friends with whom I am sharing my life with its lights

and shadows

To all those who love me

First, this work would not have been completed without God's help and guidance and enlightenment.

We would like to express our deepest gratitude to our supervisor Mrs.Bekhta BELAID for her support, guidance and advice.

Special gratitude must go to the jury *Dr. EL HADJ SAID Nabila* and *Dr. BENHEDDI Karima*for accepting to evaluate our work.

We are also grateful for our teachers that taught us the process of how to write and do academic research.

A special thank for all our teachers who helped and encouraged us during all our educational process.

Also, we would like to extend our appreciation to all those who helped us to fulfill this research work; all the primary school teachers for their time and collaboration to answer our questionnaire.

Abstract

The current research evaluated the effectiveness of the textbook "My Book of English" used in the third- year of primary school in Algeria. It aimed to gain insights into teachers' perceptions of that coursebook. To achieve this objective, a descriptive research design was implemented using a checklist along with teachers' questionnaire to gather data and test the validity of the research hypothesis that states that the textbook would be suitable and appropriate as a teaching material if primary school teachers of English have positive attitudes towards it. The evaluation phase focuses on the strengths and weaknesses of the coursebook in terms of several criteria, including layout and physical appearance; content; objectives; language type; skills; activities and tasks; structure and vocabulary; culture values; and teacher's needs. The questionnaire was submitted to fifteen (15) third- year primary school teachers of English from Naamacity. The results obtained revealed that teachers'opinions concerning the use of the textbook were positive. It generally suits the teachers' expectations; however, some disadvantages are undeniable. Therefore, teachers should be aware of these disadvantages to mediate the textbook by using the processes of adaptation and supplementation for the unsuitable parts.

List of Abbreviationsand Acronyms

A: Agree

3AP: 3ème Année Primaire **CBA:** Competency Based Approach CBLT: Task-Based Learning and Teaching CDs: Credit Default Swap CLT: Communicative Language Teaching **CPH:** Critical Period Hypothesis D:Disagree EFL: English as a Foreign Language E.g: Example ELT: English Language Teaching ESL: English as a Second Language G: Good i.e: that is PDP: Pre, During, Post P: Poor QG: Quite Good SA: Strongly Agree SD: Strongly Disagree TEFL: Teaching English as a Foreign Language 21st:Twenty First VG: Very Good **VP: Very Poor**

List of Tables

Table 2.1 The Layout and Physical Appearance of the Textbook	33
Table 2.2 The Content of the Textbook.	34
Table 2.3 The Objectives of the Textbook	35
Table 2.4 The Language Type of the Textbook	35
Table 2.5 The Language Skills of the Textbook	36
Table 2.6 The Activities and Tasks in the Textbook	37
Table 2.7 The Structures and Vocabulary in the Textbook	37
Table 2.8 The Cultural Values in the Textbook	38
Table 2.9 The Teachers' Needs	39
Table 2.10 Teachers' Qualification	40

List of Figures

Figure 2.1 Teachers' Teaching Experience
Figure 2.2 The Total Number of the Pupils in Each Class
Figure 2.3 Teachers' Overall Impression of "My Book of English"41
Figure 2.4 The Textbook's Need of Improvement
Figure 2.5 Teachers Possession of Teacher's Guide
Figure 2.6 Teachers' Evaluation of the Teacher's Guide
Figure 2.7Teachers' Evaluation of the General Appearance of 3AP Textbook44
Figure 2.8 Teachers' Evaluation of the Layout and Design of 3AP Textbook44
Figure 2.9 Teachers' Evaluation of the Textbook's Teachability45
Figure 2.10The Suitability of the Textbook to 3AP Level46
Figure 2.11 Teachers' Evaluation of the Flexibility of 3AP Textbook46
Figure 2.12 Teachers' Evaluation of the Teaching Methods47
Figure 2.13 Teachers' Evaluation of the Textbook Objectives 47
Figure 2.14 Teacher's Evaluation of the Textbook Topics 48
Figure 2.15 Teacher's Evaluation of the Textbook Language
Figure 2.16 Teachers' Evaluation of the Language Skills 49
Figure 2.17 Teachers' Evaluation of the Activities 50
Figure 2.18 Teachers' Evaluation of the Social and Cultural Aspects
Figure 2.19 Teachers' Evaluation of the Illustrations

Table of Contents

Dedication	. II
Acknowledgments	.IV
Abstract	V
List of Abbreviationsand Acronyms	VI
List of Tables	VII
List of Figures	/III
Table of Contents	IX
General Introduction	1
Chapter One: Review of Literature	8
1.1 Introduction	8
1.2 Teaching English in the Algerian Context	
1.2.1 English as a Global Language	
1.2.2 The Status of English in Algeria	9
1. 2.3 ELT in Algeria	10
1.3 ELT in Primary Schools: Benefits, Challenges and Solutions	
1.3.1 The Younger, the Better	
1.3.2 Teaching English in Primary Schools	
1.3.3 Benefits of Teaching English in Primary Schools	
1.3.4 Challenges in Teaching English in Primary Schools	
1.3.5 Solutions of the Challenges in Teaching English in Primary Schools.	.17
1.4 ELT in Middle Schools	
1.5 ELT in Secondary Schools	
1.6 Textbook Evaluation in ELT.	
1.6.1 Textbook Definition.1.6.2 Objectives of the Textbook.	
1.6.3 The Role of a Textbook in the EFL Classroom	
1.6.4 The Importance of Textbook Evaluation	
1.7 Approaches to Textbook Evaluation	
1.7.1 Impressionistic Approach	
1.7.2 In-depth Approach	
1.7.3 Checklist Approach	
1.8 Criteria of Textbook Evaluation	
1.9 Conclusion	
Chapter Two: Research Design, Results and Recommendations	
2.1 Introduction	32
2.2 Research Objective	.32
2.3 The Sample Population	32

2.4 The Research Instruments	32
2.5 Research Method	33
2.6 Results and Discussion	33
2.6.1 Textbook Evaluation	33
2.6.2. Teachers' Questionnaire Analysis	40
2.7 Discussion of the Main Findings	52
2.8 Suggestions and Pedagogical Implications	53
2.9 Limitations of the Study	54
2.10 Conclusion	55
General Conclusion	57
Bibliography	60
Appendices	69
Appendix A Textbook Evaluation Checklist	69
Appendix B Teachers' Questionnaire	74
Résumé	
ملخص	

General Introduction

English Language Teaching (ELT) textbooks play a very important role in language classrooms. In some situations, they serve as the basis for many language inputs that learners receive and language practices that occur in the classroom. They may provide the basis for the content of the lessons, the balance of skills being taught, and the kinds of language practice the students take part in. Teaching materials should make students learn. They should also be the resource books for ideas and instructional activities as well as giving teachers rationales for what they do. In addition, they should be suitable for students' needs. Therefore, the textbook being used in Algerian primary school must go along with the EFL learners' needs. In EFL situation, students rarely have chances to use English outside the classroom; consequently, English textbook seems to be the only source by which students receive input and the main material for both teachers and students to rely on as well (Park, 2004).

Although teachers and students need textbook as a source to guide them in the classroom, it must be used appropriately in order to achieve its objectives. A textbook is an almost universal element of teaching and guidance for a teacher in giving the systematic materials to the students, a supplement for their instruction in classroom, a memory aid for pupils, and a permanent record for measuring what has been learnt. It can also provide ideas for novice teachers about the kinds of materials and techniques that should be adopted. It is generally accepted that the role of the textbook is to be at the service of teachers and learners but not to be their master (Awasthi, 2006).

Cunningsworth (1995) informed that there are three types of materials evaluation: Pre-use evaluation, in-use evaluation, and post-use evaluation. Pre-use evaluation might be implemented when there is no actual experience of using the book for teachers to draw on. Inuse evaluation refers to textbook evaluation whilst the materials are in use. Post-use evaluation provides retrospective assessment of a textbook's performance and can be useful for identifying strengths and weaknesses, which emerge over a period of continuous use. Based on what have been explained before, the objective of this evaluation is to know about how much the Algerian third-year primary school textbook meets the requirements of a good EFL textbook. The results of this research are expected to help teachers evaluate whether the selected materials have already matched with the pupils' needs or not, so that they can have some decisions to improve the pupils' English competence for better future.

In Algeria, teaching and learning English as a Foreign Language (EFL) depends mainly on the use of textbooks. They are considered a key component in primary, middle and secondary education teaching programs since it helps both teachers and learners as well. Sheldon (1988) stated that textbooks or "course books are perceived by many to be the route map of any ELT programmes" (p.238). Thus, textbook evaluation becomes a necessity so as to improve its quality as well as facilitate the teaching learning process. Hutchinson and Waters (1987) noted that evaluation is a matter of judging the fitness of something for a particular purpose.

In July 2002, Algeria started introducing reforms to its educational system. It adopted a new teaching approach namely the Competency Based Approach (CBA), resulted in designing new syllabuses and textbooks for the different educational levels and streams. This approach has been implemented for the sake of preparing a competent learner in real life. In 2016, the Ministry of National Education launched a new educational program and textbook in middle school called the '*second generation*'. They are developed to cope with the digital era and play a more active role in learners' own development and make them responsible for their own learning (Tamrabet et al., 2016).

Few months ago, the Algerian President had ordered the adoption of teaching English, starting from third grade of primary school level. This decision came as a response to the growing demands from academics and undergraduates. In this light, the Ministry of Education has ordered to open employment by contract, for holders of the bachelor's graduates in the English language, or translation to and from the same language. In addition, syllabus designers in Algeria spent great efforts to develop new program and textbook (*My Book of English*) that go with primary education pupils' needs and cognitive abilities (Henache, 2022;Middle East Monitor Organization, 2022).

Improving any nation's educational system related to a permanent evaluation and update of many educational components including curricula, syllabuses, objectives, methods, techniques, materials and others. The textbook is a material that reflects the objectives of the educational policy of the country.Designing an effective and appropriate textbook is of great importance because it will affect the learners. Hence, it is necessary to provide them with a good and reliable source of knowledge.

Textbooks play a prominent role in EFL classrooms all over the world. They are the foundation of school instruction and the primary source of information for both teachers and learners. Textbooks do not only provide teachers with a framework to achieve the aims and objectives of the lesson, but also guide them to introduce it. For learners, a textbook truly affects their performance and attitudes towards the lessons presented.

Despite the fact that textbooks are essential in the teaching learning process, there is no textbook can fully satisfy the teaching requirements in all contexts. Therefore, it is important to subject the textbooks in use to evaluation in order to assess their suitability and relevance for a particular group of learners.

Recently, the Ministry of National Education in Algeria make some reforms to equip the learners with competences that help them function adequately in a wide range of real life situations. "These competencies are taught in an integrated way, since in real life that is how they are used" (Tamrabet et al., 2016, p.5). In June 2022, it was announced that teaching English will start at primary school level for the first time in the country's history. Thus, the introduction of English in primary education (third grade) as from the school year 2022-2023 has been a challenge the State has taken to allow pupils learning this universal language.

Based on this decision, a new textbook was designed 'My Book of English' for third-year primary school pupils. Accordingly, it is important to subject this textbook to a close and detailed examination. Additionally, primary school teachers' viewpoints about its usefulness and effectiveness play a major role in identifying the weak and strong points of that textbook because they are in direct contact with it. Hence, they have the right to be involved in the process of evaluation.

The purpose of this study is to evaluate the effectiveness of the Algerian third-year primary school English textbook "My Book of English" according to several criteria, including layout and physical appearance; content; objectives; language type; skills; activities and tasks; structure and vocabulary; culture values; and teacher's needs. It also aims to find out the teachers' perspectives and attitudes towards that textbook.

This study is an attempt to address the following questions:

1. Does the English textbook of third-year primary school fulfil the criteria of a 'good textbook'?

2. How do teachers evaluate this textbook?

Based on the above mentioned questions led the researchersto propose the following the following hypothesis:

- If primary school teachers of English have positive attitudes towards the textbook, then it would be suitable and appropriate as a teaching material.

This research work deals with the evaluation of the textbook "My Book of English" for third-year primary school education. It is made up of two chapters. The first chapter constitutes the theoretical part while the second one is concerned with the practical field.

The first chapter, entitled "Review of Literature", is devoted to the overview of the status of English in Algeria. It focuses mainly on the Algerian educational system in primary school. It also deals with textbook evaluation in ELT, including the definition, objectives and role of a textbook in the EFL classroom in addition to the importance, approaches and criteria of textbook evaluation. The second chapteris concerned with: the evaluation of the 3rd year EFL primary pupils textbook, analysis of the data collected from teachers' questionnaire, discussion of the obtained results, followed by some suggestions and recommendations.

Chapter One: Review of Literature

1.1 Introduction
1.2 Teaching English in the Algerian Context
1.2.1 English as a Global Language9
1.2.2 The Status of English in Algeria9
1. 2.3 ELT in Algeria10
1. 3 ELT in Primary Schools: Benefits, Challenges and Solutions11
1.3.1 The Younger, the Better12
1.3.2 Teaching English in Primary Schools13
1.3.3. Benefits of Teaching English in Primary Schools14
1.3.4. Challenges in Teaching English in Primary Schools15
1.3.5. Solutions of the Challenges in Teaching English in Primary Schools17
1.4 ELT in Middle Schools
1.5 ELT in Secondary Schools
1.6 Textbook Evaluation in ELT20
1.6.1 Textbook Definition20
1.6.2 Objectives of the Textbook21
1.6.3 The Role of a Textbook in the EFL Classroom
1.6.4 The Importance of Textbook Evaluation24
1.7 Approaches to Textbook Evaluation25
1.7.1. Impressionistic Approach25
1.7.2. In-depth Approach25
1.7.3. Checklist Approach
1.8. Criteria of Textbook Evaluation
1.9 Conclusion

1.1 Introduction

This chapter is devoted to the review of literature concerned with teaching and learning English in primary schools in general and the textbook as one of the main materials that constitutes that process specifically. It dealt with the definition of textbook from the perspective of different researchers and educationists. It also discussed its objectives and role in EFL classrooms and programs. In addition, it sheded light on the issue of textbook evaluation which has recently gained a great deal of attention because its quality may affect teacher's productivity and learner's attainment and performance. Moreover, it provided the types of approaches used for textbook evaluation. Finally, it ended up with the various models and criteria for evaluating textbooks.

1.2 Teaching English in the Algerian Context

In this era of globalization, English is considered the primary medium of communication among people around the world. In Algerian schools, it exists starting from primary school up to higher education. As teaching English for children has proven its efficiency and importance in most worldwide countries, Algeria recently introduced teaching this foreign language in its primary schools in order to raise the learners' awareness of their first language as well as the target one, achieve confidence and acquire better pronunciation and fluency. Conversely, several internal and external factors determine its success so that stakeholders have to look for solutions to ensure quality education in primary schools.

In the same vein,Belaid(2014, p.65) states that "Algeria like the rest of the world is well aware of such key role especially the importance of English dominating communication in development that is seeking and enjoying greater opportunities for realizing benefits in terms of participation, education and partnership".

1.2.1 English as a Global Language

English is a widespread language. It is spoken by almost 1.5 billion people as a native, second or foreign language (Lyons, 2017). It has become the language of international communication because of the powerful status of its people; especially, politically speaking. It is used as a lingua franca in many countries for business, advertising, broadcasting, press, cinema, and popular music. It is also adopted as an official language by *The Asia–Pacific Broadcasting Union* (Crystal, 2003).

Additionally, Arab stated that "most of the literature works are published in this language than any other language. Thus, with the advance of technology, over 90% of the electronic internet contents are stored in English" (2015, p.7). In fact, it is the most worldwide dominant language in literature, science, technology and many other fields. Moreover, Belmihoub said that English is the language of international traffic control, the language of debate at the United Nations and the language of command in the NATO (2018).

1. 2.2 The Status of English in Algeria

The selection of teaching or learning any language is based on the status of that particular language within a society. The state's effort is to make this process easier by promoting agreements, providing materials, and preparing a good curriculum (Arab, 2015).

Since the independence of Algeria in 1962, the English language has been taught to the majority of students from the middle level. In July 2022, the Algerian president announced that primary schools will start to teach English from the third grade of primary education. According to Manseur, this decision resulted from the rise of the parents' demands for teaching English to their children at primary school and their protests to make it as the first foreign language in Algeria rather than French (2020).

At this stage, students are introduced to oral communication, the English sounds and alphabet, lexis, and conversational aspects, including greetings, requesting, and others. Recently, English has occupied a remarkable position due to the cooperation with the United States of America and Canada in order to promote this educational policy in Algeria. This collaboration is represented in making new textbooks, training teachers to be eligible, and building up knowledge about the use of new technologies in teaching (Chemami, 2011).

1.2. 3 ELT in Algeria

In Algeria, the use of English as an international language is increasing in various forms and contexts. It has become a significant part of Algeria's academic sphere and it is currently taught in most universities, primary, middle and secondary schools (Miliani, 2000). In this light, the National Curriculum seeks to prepare a learner with a good ability and competence to communicate in English. Thus, he/ she can participate in the country's global economy and function as a responsible citizen in the 21st century's environment. It also requires students to be taught the four skills in an integrated manner during their educational careers so that they can improve their entire range of abilities (Djebbari, 2020).

Concerning curriculum development and teaching methodologies, they have witnessed a slow but deliberate shift. Two decades ago, a number of reforms have been implemented in the Algerian educational system in general and the language teaching profession specifically so as to cope with the intensive modern research and the ongoing globalization process. Consequently, the Competency Based approach, as a new method that reflects the current situation, emerged in response to these changes. It aims to give students the knowledge and skills they need to understand and solve problems in their fields (Miliani, 2000).

According to Richard and Schmidt, the CBA approach "focuses on teaching the skills and behaviors needed to perform COMPETENCES. Competences refer to the student's ability to apply the different kinds of basic skills in situations that are commonly encountered in everyday life" (2002, p. 104). This approach requires practising the language in real life contexts, and this develops learner's language competencies inside and outside the school.

CBA is an instructional approach that teaches competencies, including interpretation, interaction, and production. The productive and interactive competencies include the speaking and writing skills. However, the interpretive competence involves reading and listening skills. Within the classroom, the teacher integrates all these skills in various tasks and real situations so as to develop the learner's communicative competence (Tamrabet et al., 2016).

1.3 ELT in Primary Schools: Benefits, Challenges and Solutions

English in Algeria is considered as the second foreign language, besides French.It is compulsorily taught throughout the Algerian middle and secondary schools and universities (Slimani,2016). More than two decades ago, English was not taught and learned in the primary school level, but in July 2022, the president called for that the teaching of English to become part of the primary program starting with this school year '2022-2023' (Boukhlef, 2022).

Teaching English to the third grade of primary education means teaching pupils aged 8 or 9 years. As they are still young, they will come to the class with different levels of English knowledge. They may come with excellent English; the others may know nothing about it. This condition causes a difference among students' motivation in learning English. Some of them feel that it is easy and enjoyable, and others think that it is difficult and tedious (Chuang, 2001).Therefore,we can say thatthe school facilities such asEnglish books, media, and competent teachers can facilitate, motivate and support the students well to learn English.

It is obvious that teaching English in primary schools must have many challenges. English can be profitable and destructive for young learners (Cameron,2001). It might be beneficial if the activities are exciting and appropriate to young learners' abilities. In contrast, it can be destructive if they are not fun and suitable to their level.

Several studies have been conducted in the area of teaching English in primary schools. They are in the case of textbooks evaluation, English teachers' perceptions, parents' awareness, students' social status, students' interest, and so on (Khamari et al., 2014; Wei-pei,2008). From these phenomena, it is true that there are many problems andchallenges in teachingEnglish in primary schools (Copland et al., 2014; Khamari et al., 2014; Wei-pei,2008). Therefore, schools can overcome those problems by providing solutions, including training for English teachers, educating parents that English is fundamental, motivating the pupils with attractive teaching materials and others.

1.3.1 The Younger, The Better

There are several theories and studies support the idea that learning a foreign language at an early age is better. "Children between three and six years of age are at the optimal age for learning foreign languages, because, when children learn their first language, they can use the same method to learn foreign languages" (Chuang, 2001, p. 7).Besides, the Critical Period Hypothesis (CPH) claims that language acquisition ability is biologically linked to age. Consequently, if the foreign language is acquired after the optimal period, it will become more challenging to learn it (Singleton, 2003). For that reason, most schools start teaching foreign languages at the age of 8-9 (Broughton et al., 2003). They believe that in these ages, learners will not fail to learn any language because it is the best period to gain knowledge from the teacher.

Furthermore, "pre-school children have brains which are more active, connected, and flexible than adults" (Arthur &Cremir, 2010). It means that children like to move and play, they are creative and imaginative, and have special social skills. Thus, the process of teaching and learning English will be more successful if teachers take into account their learners' needs, interests and backgrounds.

Age is not the only factor that facilitates young learners to learn a language quickly (Septy, 2003). Other factors that can also determine the success of English introduction in primary schools are motivation, language aptitude, quality of the teachers, learning strategies, family and socioeconomic backgrounds, learning materials, and social interaction (Suyanto, 2010). It means that if young learners are not motivated in learning English and their aptitude is not supported, they will get difficulties to learn it. In brief, success in learning English cannot be reached if all these factors are not supported.

1.3.2 Teaching English in Primary Schools

Teaching English in primary schools has received great attention because it deals with young learners who have unique characteristics which are egocentric, imaginative and active, self-centered, get bored easily, find difficulties to differentiate the concrete and abstract things, have a low concentration level, prefer to do the task by themselves, and love to learn new things (Harmer, 2012; Scott &Ytreberg, 2004; Suyanto, 2010). They learn and acquire the new language by practice.

Teaching English in primary schools has several purposes which are categorized into two major parts: interaction and socialization (Arthur &Cremir, 2010). Interaction helps children acquire and use information like learning how to spell; acquiring other physical skills (cutting, handwriting, etc) and complex skills (reading). Meanwhile, socialization helps children recognize a wider society and enable them to mingle and work with their peers different activities such as playing games, singing songs and others.

In addition, young learners acquire the language effectively if the environment supports them. They will learn it through their experiences and activities (Moon, 2005). It means that they explore and interact with their backgrounds and skills to acquire the language more easily. They also like to make physical movements, so that fun activities such as storytelling, roleplaying, get together activities, spider mobile, the giant potato story, learning diaries, matching,

and so on can be recommended to help them pick up the target language quickly (Moon, 2005; Pinter, 2006).

1.3.3. Benefits of Teaching English in Primary Schools

All the studies conducted under the issue of teaching English in primary schools mentioned that it gave more advantages rather than disadvantages (Moon, 2005; Read, 2003; Singleton, 2003). The benefits are related to awareness, language aptitude, time, and confidence.

In terms of awareness, Moon (2005) found that teaching English in primary schools can make the students more aware of their first language. Therefore, students should have the basic foundation of their first language before they want to learn English as a foreign language. Besides, it can make the students have more significant global awareness and intercultural competencies (Moon, 2005; Read, 2003). By learning English, the students can have more opportunities to understand that most countries are with different cultural aspects. This makes them have a positive attitude, be more respectful and tolerant (Moon, 2005; Singleton, 2003). English language can also be an effective way to understand other cultures and communicate with people from different countries.

In addition, teaching English in primary schools is beneficial for students to acquire better pronunciation and fluency (Read, 2003). At this level, they have more time to learn the foreign language instruction (Singleton, 2003). Thus, If they are extensively exposed to the right pronunciation of such words in English, better fluency will be reached. Another benefit is to achieve confidence. It is one of the keys that motivate students to learn. It is expected that learning English at an early age can be one of the efforts to improve their self-confidence (Moon, 2005). If they have sufficient knowledge of English, they will be more confident to learn it and vice versa.

Moreover, children are better learners because learning in their age is going natural, exciting and enjoyable, relevant, social, multisensory, active and experiential, memorable, etc. (Read, 2003). When all these optimal conditions are available, they will reach high achievement in language knowledge. In conclusion, it is better for children to understand that there are many languages in this world. If they understand which ones belong to the first, second, and foreign languages, they will raise awareness of their first language and foreign language they are learning. They will also be more confident to speak in English because they have better pronunciation and fluency.

1.3.4 Challenges in Teaching English in Primary Schools

Teaching English in primary schools is not easy since the way how to teach children is different from how to teach adult learners (Copland et al., 2014; Khamari et al., 2014; Wei-pei,2008).The problems are in terms of internal and external factors. The internal factor refers to pedagogy, motivation, and identity. The external factor includes textbooks, learning resources, teachers' level of English, and class size.

To begin with the internal factors, pedagogy competence deals with the proper use of teaching strategies such as Communicative Language Teaching (CLT), Task-Based Learning and Teaching (CBLT), and many other methods. However, the teachers may find it challenging to introduce those strategies for several reasons. For example, it may be inappropriate for teaching large groups of students where the resources are limited. Therefore, the teachers need to do their best to implement those learning strategies effectively (Copland et al., 2014).

In terms of motivation, it is difficult to motivate children to learn the language, because they have different motivations (Copland et al., 2014). Some of them may struggle to understand English, while others may not. Besides, if the progress of the students is not frequently assessed, those who have low proficiency level in English are not interested and motivated in learning it. Hence, it will be difficult for the teacher to explain the materials and involve them in activities. In addition, support from parents plays a vital role in learning English because the students will have motivation for it (Khamari et al., 2014).

Another challenge relates to identity. It is "a condition in which a mass of people make the same identification with national symbols-have internalized the symbols of the nation" (Utomo, 2009, p.02). It regards that every country has its uniqueness of the national identity. In this light, to make the students proud of their national identity when they are learning English is not easy because they are more interested in foreign culture rather than in their culture.

Regarding the external factors, textbooks play an important role in supporting students to acquire knowledge on English. However, they are either not available or their materials are often poorly organized and illustrated (Khamari et al., 2014; Wei-pei,2008). In addition to textbooks, teachers can use other materials that need to be adapted according to the students' needs and skills and simply designed so that both teachers and students can easily follow the path.

In terms of learning sources, teachers need to explain things concretely through demonstrations and realia because children learn better from real objects rather than theories (Copland et al., 2014). They also need to use visual aids that can help them understand the lessons. However, most schools do not have sufficient pedagogical aids (Khamari et al., 2014). This will certainly create a problem to the teachers who will not be able to provide fun activities which engage their students in the task.

Then, teachers' English proficiency can influence their teaching. In other words, those who have low proficiency level lack selfconfidence, find difficulties to interact with children, and understand the materials slowly (Copland et al., 2014). Therefore, teachers with no sufficient knowledge in teaching English to young learners need some training to develop their competencies. However, most English teachers joining the training felt dissatisfied because they are not well-trained using effective methods and strategies (Khamari et al., 2014; Wei-pei,2008). This problem raises serious issues about the overall quality of teaching English in primary schools. As a result, providing appropriate training for primary schools' teachers can help them know the various characteristics of their students.

Next, the size of the class is considered a common challenge because the larger the class, the more difficulties the teachers find. Otherwise, if the classroom size is too small or not appropriate for the number of students, they will get difficulties to move, so they do not have enough space to do their activities (Copland et al., 2014). To conclude, the government together with the teachers and the schools' committee should take into their accounts those challenges and find solutions so that the better quality of teaching English in primary schools can be reached.

1.3.5 Solutions of the Challenges in Teaching English in Primary Schools

Based on the challenges presented previously, the following solutions are proposed from several theories (Harmer, 2012; Moon, 2005; Pinter, 2006; Scott &Ytreberg, 2004; Suyanto, 2010).

Firstly, stakeholders should be responsible for the issue of teaching English to young learners. They should design and prepare some training for teachers. The training should include competent trainers, appropriate materials, and proper methods in order to help teachers fulfill some qualifications that are not found on those who teach adult learners (Law of the Republic of Indonesia Number 14, 2005; Suyanto, 2010). For instance, teachers should have adequate English skills and develop their competencies constantly; they must conduct assessment and manage their class well; they should be patient, kind, friendly, humorous, and highly energetic; they need to be professional and join training or workshops to develop their skills; and they have to communicate effectively with children, colleagues, parents, and so on.

Secondly, to motivate the students in learning English, the teachers need to understand their characteristics because they are still young and they need to get special treatment (Harmer, 2012; Scott &Ytreberg, 2004; Suyanto, 2010). Therefore, if the teachers understand their students' personalities, they can encourage them to learn English through interesting and enjoyable activities (Read, 2003).

In order to avoid dealing with inappropriate textbooks and teaching aids, teachers are required to be creative by using some fun learning activities. They also need to be selective while using textbooks and anticipate the lack of learning sources that support the teaching-learning process. In addition, they need to decide whether the content, materials, and lessons are appropriate for the students' needs and language skills. For example, the teachers can provide topics about foreign countries as an input and let them discuss whatever related to their country as an output (Nation, 1996). That is to show that national identity is important; although the students are learning a foreign language, they do not lose and forget it. Moreover, English teachers should have the predisposition to ask, learn, try new things, and improving their competencies (Moon, 2005; Pinter, 2006).

Next, English teachers are required to create a comfortable atmosphere and manipulate as much as possible the students' physical movements that generally dominate the class (Moon, 2005; Pinter, 2006). They sometimes need to design an outdoor activity to introduce the surrounding environment to the students. However, it is crucial for the teachers to be the basis in designing the activities which are appropriate for the students' needs and skills. They also need to report their students' progress of learning English.

Finally, teachers should explain to parents that learning English is mandatory in today's era. They can convince them by showing many students who are successful in English. Therefore, if the parents support their children to learn English, they will make the process of teaching and learning that language more enjoyable and much easier.

1.4 ELT in Middle Schools

The beginning of the academic year 2002-2003 witnessed a new educational reform (CBA) in teaching curricula and textbooks for all middle levels. The main objective of the Ministry of National Education is to modernize the field of education, as well as enable learners receive the basic knowledge required to acquire a reasonable command of the basic structure of English during their four

years of instruction. However, the broad objectives of this newly adopted teaching methodology are linguistic, methodological and cultural (Djebbari, 2020).

The use of the CBA in English language classrooms aims to develop language awareness and skills, learners' teamwork and collaboration through projects, where they are supposed to collaborate, discuss, analyze, practice and solve language problems. In addition, they enhance their speaking abilities and strategies via the amusing activities and units they are exposed to (Djebbari, 2020).

In April 2016, a revision of 2003 reform was introduced in primary and middle schools under the name of '*second generation*'. The latter involved designing new syllabuses and textbooks for all the subjects, including English language. The curricula of English for middle education focus on the following three major principles:

- ✓ The development of communication competence in English: the goal is to prepare the learner for oral and written communication.
- ✓ The learner is in the center of the learning process: the pedagogical act is no longer based on the transmission of knowledge but it involves the construction of knowledge, taking into account the learner's interest, likes and dislikes.
- ✓ There is a constant interaction between the teacher, learner, and resources inside and outside school: the role of the teacher is to involve the child in his own learning and help him learn how to learn. He gives him opportunities to become autonomous at all stages of learning, and to evaluate his own performance. A good student-teacher relationship will create a favorable climate where shared values are essential to shape a good and responsible citizen (Boumella&Bouhzem, 2017).

1.5 ELT in Secondary Schools

After learners finish the four years of middle education, they move to the secondary school. They are expected to have some basics in English that later will

enable them to receive the language skills, functions and forms, grammar, vocabulary and pronunciation. The secondary education syllabus aims at stimulating and developing learners' communicative abilities. Therefore, they are supposed to acquire the ability of expressing themselves with sufficient fluency (Miliani, 2010).

The introduction of this curriculum involves different teaching materials and interactive activities such as proverbs and sayings, jokes and games, portfolios and self-assessment, along with pictures and illustrations. In this respect, course books include a variety of activities and integrated tasks to develop different skills like listening for details, developing awareness of specific features in English pronunciation, paying attention to discourse markers and sequencers while listening to conversations (Djebbari, 2020).

1.6 Textbook Evaluation in ELT

1.6.1 Textbook Definition

Due to globalization, technology has brought a variety of resources for language teaching and learning. However, the textbook is still regarded the reliable source for instruction and most worldwide educational institutions depend on it.

The concept of textbook as an instructional material has been defined by many specialists and educationists. Richards and Schmidt said that a textbook is "a book on a specific subject used as a teaching-learning guide, especially in a school or college" (2010, p.595). Therefore, the textbook with its particular topics is considered a roadmap for both teachers and learners at schools. In the same line of thought, Belaid (2014, p.85) states:

Language instruction has three important components: the teacher, the learner and the material i.e. the textbook which are the centre of instruction and one of the most important influences on what goes on in the classroom. The textbook is an integral element in the teaching/learning process.It plays a crucial role in developing learners' competence and increasing their performance.

A textbook as a pedagogical tool is beneficial to both teachers and students (Harmer, 2007). It is an effective "resource for-self directed learning, an effective resource for presenting material, a source of ideas and activities, a reference source for student, a syllabus where they reflect predetermined learning objectives and support for less experienced teachers who have yet to get gain in confidence" (Cunningsworth, 1995, p.7). Thus, they are considered the essential constituents to many ESL/EFL classrooms and programs.

The textbook is a common element of English language teaching. It covers many issues such as, grammar, vocabulary, pronunciation, the language four skills and other components. It also conveys "a global understanding of history and of the rules of society as well as norms of living with other people" (Schissler, 1990, p. 81). Hence, textbooks provide knowledge and teach learners the political, historical, cultural and social norms of a society.

1.6.2 Objectives of the Textbook

Using textbooks has a significant impact on EFL classes. Sheldon (1988) points out that they represent the visible heart of any ELT programs because of their considerable advantages for students and teachers as well. As the teaching and learning process based on that the learner is the center of language instruction, textbooks are considered the best source to perform the syllabus aims and objectives according to the learners' needs.

Teachers should make sure that the selected materials closely reflect the needs of the learners as well as the aims, methods and values of the teaching program. An ideal textbook is a book that matches the needs of all the students in one situation perfectly. It also includes sufficient and various materials and it has an equal coverage of grammar and the four skills (Brown, 1995, Cunningsworth, 1995, Richards, 2001). We can say that textbooks should contain clear objectives that help

not only evaluate their quality and appropriateness to student's level, but also plan good lessons.

Hayland (2007) states that objectives are important, for that appropriate learning is achieved. This means that the objectives of the lesson and unit should be clearly reflected on the learners' attitude and behaviour. Moreover, Cunningsworth says that "the aims and objectives of a learning/teaching program should determine which course materials are used and not vice versa, reflecting the principle that course books are better servants than masters" (1995, p.15). In other words, coursebooks are useful materials to convey the aims and objectives set in the program.

In conclusion, an effective textbook should include a variety of objectives and goals that offer to the learners a chance to practice and use their skills in language teaching.

1.6.3 The Role of a Textbook in the EFL Classroom

Although the textbook is considered a unique tool for students and teachers, many researchers and methodologists are still arguing about its usefulness. Grant (1987) claimed that no perfect book exists, yet the goal in this regard would be to find the best possible one that fits a particular learner group. In this light, Cunningsworth confirmed that "no textbook is suited with a specific teaching situation. However, it should be partnership between teacher and material which shares same goals where each part brings its particular contribution" (1984, p.6). In other words, there should be an intermediate between teachers and the material used. Therefore, teachers should know how to choose the best material for instruction; to make supplementary materials for the class and to adapt or change the materials of textbooks.

Allwright (1981), for instance, pointed out that the textbook promotes an 'over-involvement of the teacher' and an 'under involvement of the learner'. In a similar context, Swan (1992, p.33) warned that:

The danger with ready-made textbooks is that they can seem to absolve teachers of responsibility. Instead of participating in the day-to-day decisions that have to be made about what to teach and how to teach it, it is easy to just sit back and operate the system, secure in the belief that the wise and virtuous people who produced the textbook knew what was good for us. Unfortunately this is rarely the case.

Conversely, O'Neill argued that the use of textbook helps to create an expected interaction which is necessary to classroom language teaching. He also added that "learners who do not work from textbooks may be being deprived of useful medium of orientation and study outside the classroom" (1982. p.104). This is confirmed by Rivers, "The importance of the textbook cannot be overestimated. It will inevitably determine the major part of the classroom teaching and the student's out-of class learning" (1981, p.475). Hence, the textbook is useful for both inside and outside the classroom.

According to Ravitch (2003) and Valverde et al (2002), textbooks play a significant role in shaping teachers, students, and families' views of school subjects. Consequently, they have great impact on the teacher, learner and stakeholders as well. In addition, Hycroft (1998) states that the use of textbooks is psychologically essential for students since their progress and achievement can be measured concretely when they use them.

Hutchinson and Torres (1994) argue that textbooks have positive part in the process of teaching and learning English. They state that they provide the necessary input into classroom lessons through different activities, readings and explanations. Similarly, the textbook is a standard source of information for formal study of a subject and an instrument for teaching and learning (Graves, 2000).

Richards (2006) asserted that without textbooks, a program may have no impact because they provide structure for the lesson to be presented. Besides, the use of textbooks can guarantee that students in different classes will receive a similar content; thus, they can be evaluated in the same way. Moreover, they include a variety of learning resources such as workbooks, CDs and others which make the learning environment enjoyable.

On the basis of the above arguments, it is obvious that textbooks may play a positive or a negative role in the teaching and learning process. Richards (2001) stated that commercial textbooks have both advantages and disadvantages and that depend on how they are used and the context for their use.

1.6.4 The Importance of Textbook Evaluation

The textbook occupies a prominent role in ELT context. McGrath asserted that "... [Textbook] influences what teachers teach and what and to some extent how students learn" (2002, p.12). The textbook is considered to be among the most powerful influences on teaching English as a foreign language classes because it frames the teaching activities and the learning opportunities.

Rea-Dickins and Germaine (1992) stated that "evaluation is an intrinsic part of teaching and learning" (p.4). Evaluation plays a key role in education as it can provide the teacher with valuable information about classroom practice, the planning of courses, the management of learning tasks and the use of instructional materials such as textbooks.

Textbook evaluation is an important activity for both instructors and textbook writers. The primary goal of this practice is to find out the points of strengths and weaknesses of the syllabus. Sawin (1969) explained that evaluation is to delete inconsistencies and unnecessary repetition, to provide a smoother development of content and a program of teaching English in line with the needs of the students.

Textbook evaluation can be very useful for teachers' development and professional growth. Ellis (1997) suggested that textbook evaluation helps teachers go beyond impressionistic assessments and it helps them acquire useful, accurate, systematic and contextual insights into the overall nature of textbook material.

1.7. Approaches to Textbook Evaluation

Textbooks are undoubtedly the most popular teaching materials used in foreign language classes. Therefore, they should be perpetually evaluated to determine their relevancy and appropriateness. To do so, researchers and methodologists suggested three main approaches:impressionistic approach, in-depth approach, and checklist approach.

1.7.1 Impressionistic Approach

As its name indicates, the impressionistic approach is known by its receptive nature and it is appropriate as a preliminary phase for selecting textbooks that meet pre-determined criteria for more detailed analysis. It is a means by which we obtain information or general features of textbooks. Therefore, it provides a general overview about the coursebook that helps us form a general impression of it (Cunningsworth, 1995). Generally speaking, this approach to evaluation tries to find out what Cunningsworth (1984) calls "what the books say about themselves". However, misjudgements can be the consequence of such 'quick impression' as viewed by Tomlinson (2003), so a deeper examination is required in order to examine a textbook and determine its worth.

1.7.2 In-depth Approach

The In-depth approach is the subsequent step to the impressionistic one. It is characterized by its active nature and it seeks to examine and evaluate the textbook profoundly and thoroughly. To do so, the evaluater needs to focus on the items related to "students' needs, syllabus requirements, how different aspects of language are dealt with,..." (Cunningsworth, 1995, p.2). This approach to evaluation aims at matching the textbook content and the requirement of the teaching and learning situation and finding out to what extent that textbook is suitable or not.

As a negative point in using this method, it is time-consuming and requires expert knowledge so that it is suggested to analyze only one or two units/chapters of
the textbook in detail. Conversely, the selected units may not be representative of the whole book and may only offer partial assessment (McGrath, 2002).

1.7.3 Checklist Approach

One of the three approaches that are used in evaluating textbooks is checklist approach. It is a tool that provides evaluators with a list of features of successful learning-teaching materials. Based on these criteria, they can rate the quality of the material (Sarem et al., 2013). Byrd (2001) told that "checklist method is systematic in the way that the criteria on the list are checked off in a certain order" (p.416). This advantage of checklist method ensures that all elements that are deemed to be important are considered. In the samecontext, McGrath (2002) stated:

- ✓ It is effective, permitting a good deal of information to be recorded in a relatively short space of time.
- ✓ The information is recorded in a convenient format, allowing for easy comparison between competing sets of material.
- ✓ It is explicit, and, provided the categories are well understood by all involved in the evaluation.

Evaluation checklists should include some criteria related to the physical characteristics of textbooks such as layout, organization, methodology, aims, and approaches and the degree to which a set of materials are not only teachable, but also fit the needs of the individual teacher's approach as well as the organization of the overall curriculum (Cunningsworth, 1995; Sheldon, 1988; & Williams, 1983).

Since textbook evaluation can not be done without a checklist, researchers set up different checklist models. They include Candling and Breen (1979), Hutchinson (1987), Sheldon (1988), Rea-dickens and Germaine (1992), McDonough and Shaw (1993 & 2003), Cunningsworth (1995), and Tomlinson (1998 & 2003).

All the aforementioned frameworks are designed and developed based on the learning-teaching context and the needs of the learner and teacher. The checklists

proposed by Cunningsworth (1995) and Skierso (1991) examine similar features, including aims, layout, and methodology. They also include how language skills (speaking, listening, reading and writing), sub-skills (grammar, vocabularyand pronunciation) and functions are presented in the textbook depending on the present socio-cultural setting (Cunningsworth, 1995; Harmer, 1991; Ur, 1996; Zabawa, 2001).

1.8 Criteria of Textbook Evaluation

Textbooks are designed to serve the needs of less experience teachers. However, textbook evaluation is done for teachers who are not properly trained on how to choose, adapt, evaluate and use the textbooks. Cunningsworth (1995) as mentioned by Richards (2001, p.04) proposed four criteria for evaluating textbooks:

1. They should correspond to learnerís needs. They should match the aims and objectives of the language-learning program.

2. They should reflect the uses (present or future) which learners will make of the language. Textbooks should be chosen that will help equip students to use language effectively for their own purposes.

3. They should take account of students' needs as learners and should facilitate their learning processes, without dogmatically imposing a rigid 'method'.

4. They should have a clear role as a support for learning. Like teachers, they mediate between the target language and the learner.

We can say that these criteria are valuable for both learners and teachers. However, they may not always meet learners' or teachers' needs since situations differ from one context to another. On this ground, Cunningsworth (1995) adds general criteria, including forty five (45) criteria in eight (8) categories: aims/approaches, design/organization, language content and study skills, topic, methodology, teacher's book and practical considerations. Azevedo (1978) recommended the following criteria for evaluating elementary TEFL textbooks: objectives, students' needs, content, design, organization, and general aspects related to cover, length of units and lessons, supplementary materials, teacher's book and its instructions, and student's workbook. Lee et al. (1998) claimed that the teacher should be aware of the following points so as to select a good English textbook:

-The textbook should not include long grammatical explanations; list of words and exercises translated from the native language to English and vice versa.

-It should provide examples that contain the language structure to be taught.

-It should guide students to learning by translation.

-Text structures and vocabulary should be attached to real life situations.

-It should comprise a variety of cartoons and dialogues to stimulate students to learn.

In conclusion, there are common criteria that should be taken into account when selecting and evaluating an English textbook: aims/objectives, layout, content, language skills, teaching aids, teaching methods, time allotted for teaching, students' needs and interests, and teacher's manual.

1.9 Conclusion

As English is the dominant language in the world, its status in Algeria is dramatically increasing due to new technologies, science, business, etc. It is taught in primary, middle and secondary schools and universities. In fact, teaching English in primary schools is not easy, so stakeholders need to take into account the problems and challenges facing the teachinglearning process. Besides, introducing this language to young learners has many benefits because they have more time and chances to learn it, more opportunities to understand its culture and be more tolerant to others. In contrast, it needs to be well-prepared and organized to reach good quality English teaching and learning. In short, English teachers for young learners need to know learners' habits, characteristics, and needs in order to be able to improve their competencies and teaching performance.

As far as the textbook as an important material used in EFL/ESL classrooms is concerned, this chapter presented its definition, objectives and role in the field of education. It also dealt with the importance and approaches of textbook evaluation. Therefore, different models of checklist methods were suggested to evaluate and adapt textbooks. In addition, it provided several criteria that allow a textbook to be systematically analyzed to ensure its usefulness and practicality. On this ground, the coming chapter will be devoted to the evaluation of third-year primary school textbook "My Book of English" according to Cunningsworth's (1995) checklist developed by Al-sowat (2012), as well as to the analysis and discussion of teachers' questionnaire so as to see to what extent this textbook is suitable and appropriate to pupils' abilities.

Chapter Two: Research Design, Results and Recommendations

2.1 Introduction	32
2.2 Research Objective	32
2.3 The Sample Population	32
2.4 The Research Instruments	32
2.5 Research Method	33
2.6 Results and Discussion	33
2.6.1 Textbook Evaluation	33
2.6.2 Teachers' Questionnaire Analysis	40
2.7 Discussion of the Main Findings	52
2.8 Suggestions and Pedagogical Implications	53
2.9 Limitations of the Study	54
2.10 Conclusion	55

2.1 Introduction

This chapter focuses on the practical part of the study. Its purpose is to describe the results obtained from the data collected. Based on the analysis and discussion of data obtained from the textbook evaluation andteachers'questionnaire, this work tends to shed light on the effectiveness of "My Book of English" inteaching and learning English for third-year primary school. Moreover, the chapter will examine the hypothesis and answer the research questions that already mentioned in the general introduction.

2.2. Research Objective

The objective of this study is to check whether the Algerian third-year primary school English textbook "My Book of English" fit the pupils' level and needs.

2.3 The Sample population

The population of the present study is primary school teachers of English in Naama. The whole population consists of 44 teachers. Since it is difficult to work on all the population, the researcher selected 15 teachers randomly as the sample of the study. We choose this sample because they are familiar with the textbook to be evaluated, and this enables them to be participants in the study.

2.4 The Research Instruments

To achieve the aims of the study, we use textbook evaluation and teachers' questionnaire as data collection tools. The evaluation checklist used in this study is the modification of Cunningsworth's (1995) checklist developed by Al-sowat (2012). There are nine issues of textbook evaluating in this checklist: (1) layout and physical appearance; (2) content; (3) objectives; (4) language type; (5) skills; (6) activities and tasks; (7) structure and vocabulary; (8) culture values; and (9) teacher's needs. We also design a questionnaire to find out teachers' viewpoints of

the evaluation of the textbook 'My Book of English' for third-year primary school pupils.

2.5 Research Method

In the present study, we used a descriptive method because it depends on the nature of the problem and it is more practical in terms of time and tools. The choice of this method can be justified by the fact that this research methodology will provide us with comprehensive information and valid results.

2.6 Results and Discussion

2.6.1 Textbook Evaluation

> The Layout and Physical Appearance of the Textbook

Table 2.1 the Layout and Physical Appearance of the Textbook

Statements	VP	Р	QG	G	VG
1. The textbook is durable (quality of paper and binding).					\checkmark
2. The size of the textbook seems convenient for students to					
handle.					
3. The cover of the textbook is appealing.					
4. The main headings and subheadings are well-organized.					
5. The units are well organized and offer easy progression.					
6. The textbook contains enough pictures, diagrams, tables etc					
helping the students understand the printed texts.					
7. Illustrations, tables, figures, graphs, etc. are relevant and					
functional.					
8. An adequate vocabulary list or glossary is included.					
9. The instructions in the textbook are written in a simple and					
clear language.					
10. The material contains an adequate indices and appendices.					
11. The textbook is provided with the necessary audio-visual					
aids, which help students learn the four skills in an integrated					
way.					

The result of analysis suggests that the layout and physical appearance of the textbook 'My Book of English' for third-year primary education is suitable and appropriate to attract the students.

> The Content of the Textbook

Table 2.2 The Content of the Textbook

Statements	VP	Р	QG	G	VG
1. The textbook contains an appropriate table of content.					
2. The content does not conflict with students' social beliefs					
3. The content does not conflict with students' background.					
4. The textbook covers most language skills.					
5. The subject matter is presented either topically or functionally in a logical, organized manner.					
6. There is sufficient variety in the subject and content of the textbook					
7. The content promotes students'involvement					
8. The content contains real-life issues that challenge the reader					
to think critically about his/her worldview.					
9. The topics are familiar to the learners.					
10. The content of the material is interesting and motivating.					
11. The content promotes students' involvement.					
12. The textbook is appropriate for the learners' level.					
13. The material encourages a positive attitude towards gender.					
(e.g. stereotyping occupation or use of gender bias words like					
chairman instead of chairperson).					
14. The textbook encourages a positive attitude					
towardsenvironmental issues					
15. The textbook contains self-check progress report.					

Concerning the content of the textbook, the analysis showed that the textbook did not contain table of content.Besides, the content did not include reallife issues that challenged the pupil to think critically about his/her worldview. However, the textbook covered most language skills. In addition, the content did not conflict with students' social beliefs or their background. Moreover, the content promoted pupils' involvement. Furthermore, the content of the material was interesting and motivating for the students.

> The Objectives of the Textbook

Table 2.3 The Objectives of the Textbook

Statements	VP	P	QG	G	VG
1. The objectives in the textbook are clear and precise for the					
learners.					
2. The objectives are gradual in difficulty.					
3. The objectives are realistic.			$$		
4. The objectives of the materials correspond to the needs of					
the learners.					
5. The objectives demonstrate the various levels of Bloom's					
taxonomy.					
6. The objectives recognize individual differences.					
7. The objectives of the materials suit the level of the learners.					
8. The objectives can be covered within the time allocated for					
the textbook.					

The result of analysis indicated that the objectives of the textbook are clear and precise for the learners, realistic and gradual in difficulty. Besides, they correspond to the needs of the learners. Conversely, the objectives did not demonstrate the various levels of bloom's taxonomy. In addition, they did neither recognize individual differences nor suit the level of the learners. Moreover, they could not be covered within the time allocated for the textbook.

> The Language Type of the Textbook

Table 2.4 The Language Type of the Textbook

Statements	VP	Р	QG	G	VG
1. The language used in the textbook is authentic i.e. like real- life English.					
2. The textbook includes materials for pronunciation work.					
3. There is an emphasis on language use.			\checkmark		
4. Learners are given examples of ways they can use their foreign language in the future beyond the school experience.					
5. New and critical concepts are defined in the glossary or explained when they are first introduced in the lesson.		V			
6. The language used is at the level of the learners.					

The result of analysis indicated that the language used in the textbook was somehow authentic i.e. like real-life English and it included materials for pronunciation work, e.g. individual sounds or phonemes. There was a little emphasis on language use. Besides, learners were not given examples of ways they could use their foreign language in the future beyond the school experience. Furthermore, there was no glossary so that new and critical concepts were not defined or explained when they were first introduced in the lesson. Finally, the language used was suitable at the level of the learners.

> The Language Skills of the Textbook

Table 2.5 The Language Skills of the Textbook

Statements	VP	Р	QG	G	VG
1.The material provides the four language skills				\checkmark	
2. The textbook pays attention to writing activities such as					
controlled, guided, and free paragraphs					
3. The materials for listening are accompanied by activities			$$		
which help comprehension.					
4. The materials for spoken English (dialogues, role play,					
communication activities etc are designed to equip learners for					
real-life interaction.					
5. The reading lessons are associated with the PDPmodel.					
6. Relevant skills are catered for in the textbook such as					
critical thinking, problem solving etc.					

Regarding the language skills, the textbook did not provide enough writing activities and reading texts. Besides, the materials for listening need more activities which helped comprehension and the spoken English (dialogues, role play, communication activities etc.) were not designed to equip learners for real-life interaction. However, the reading lessons were associated with the PDP model. Finally, relevant skills such as critical thinking, problem solving etcwere poorly catered for in the textbook.

> The Activities and Tasks in the Textbook

	TID	D	00	0	VO
Statements	VP	P	QG	G	VG
1. There are a variety of activities in the textbook					
2. The instructions in the material are sufficient.					
3. The instructions in the material are clear.					
4. There are instructions to explain how the exercise should be					
done.					
5. The number of activities is suitable					
6. There are interactive activities that require students to use					
new vocabulary to communicate.					
7. The textbook provides communicative exercises that enable					
learners to carry out their communicative tasks in real-life					
situations.					
8. There is a balance between the activities for language and					
activities for skills					
9. An adequate set of evaluation quizzes or testing suggestions					
is included.					

The result of analysis indicated that there should be an improvement of this textbook regarding the activities and task provided. The poor aspects of the textbook regarding the activities and tasks included the shortcoming of the instructions in explaining how the exercises should be done. Besides, the number of activities was not suitable. In addition, there was a lack of interactive activities that required students to use new vocabulary to communicate. Moreover, the textbook did not provide communicative exercises that enabled learners to carry out their communicative tasks in real-life situations. Furthermore, there was no balance between the activities for language and activities for skills.

> The Structures and Vocabulary in the Textbook

Table 2.7 The Structures and Vocabulary in the Textbook

Statements	VP	P	QG	G	VG
1. The grammatical structures are presented in a logical manner and					
in increasing order of difficulty.					
2. The new structure is integrated in varying contexts and situations					
3. The grammatical points are presented with brief and easy					
examples and explanations.					
4. The vocabulary load seems to be reasonable for the level of the			$$		
learners.					
5. There is sufficient written practice of the grammatical concepts					

that lead to communicative use of the language.		
6. The progression of vocabulary items is appropriate.		
7. The new structure is repeated in subsequent lessons for		
reinforcement.		
8. The vocabulary is functional, thematic, authentic, and practical		
9. There is sufficient oral practice of the grammatical concepts that		
leads to communicative use of the language.		
10. The new vocabulary words are presented in a variety of ways.		
11. The new vocabulary words are presented at an appropriate rate		
so that the text is understandable.		

It was clear that the grammatical structures in the textbook were presented in a logical manner and in increasing order of difficulty. Besides, new structures were integrated in varying contexts and situations. As well, the grammatical points were presented with brief and easy examples and explanations to some extent. Additionally, the vocabulary words were functional, thematic, authentic and practical. Similarly, the new structure was repeated in subsequent lessons for reinforcement and the oral practice of the grammatical concepts that led to communicative use of the language was enough.However, the vocabulary load was not reasonable for the level of the learners and the progression of vocabulary items was unsuitable. More to the point, the new vocabulary words were not presented in a variety of ways nor at an appropriate rate so that the text was understandable. Finally, the written practice of the grammatical concepts that led to communicative use of the language was unsatisfactory.

> The Cultural Values in the Textbook

Table 2.8 The Cultural Values in the Textbook

Statements	VP	Р	QG	G	VG
1. The content suits the learners' current knowledge and culture.					
2. The teaching of the target culture motivates the learners to explore their own culture.					
3. The content serves as a window into learning about the target language culture (American, British, etc.).		\checkmark			

From the result of analysis in terms of cultural values, it was concluded that the content need more improvements to suit the learners' knowledge and culture. The content also did not serve as a window into learning about the target language culture. Moreover, the teaching of the target culture did not motivate the learners to explore their own culture.

> The Teachers' Needs

Table 2.9 The Teachers' Needs

Statements	VP	P	QG	G	VG
1 The use of the material is easily manageable by the					
teacher.					
2. The teacher's manual suggests an appropriate, concise					
method for teaching each lesson.					
3. The design of the materials allows the teachers to use					
them differently according to the needs of different					
learners.					
4. The teacher's manual helps the teachers understand the					\checkmark
objectives of the textbook.					
5. The manual gives instructions on how to incorporate					
audio-visual materials produced for the textbook.					
6. The manual provides additional exercises for reinforcing					
various language skills in the textbook.					
7. Teachers are given techniques for activating students'					
background knowledge.					
8. The tests and assessment devices are helpful to the					
teacher.					
9. The manual provides teachers with alternative and					
authentic assessment techniques					

The result of analysis indicated that the use of the material was easily manageable by the teacher and the design of the materials allowed the teachers to use them differently according to the needs of different learners. In addition, the teacher's manual suggested an appropriate, concise method for teaching each lesson and helped the teachers understand the objectives of the textbook to a very good extent.

However, the result of analysis also pointed out that the manual did not give instructions on how to incorporate audio-visual materials produced for the textbook.

In addition, it lacked additional exercises for reinforcing various language skills in the textbook. Besides, alternative and authentic assessment techniques were not offered and the tests and assessment devices were not helpful to the teacher. Additionally, teachers were not given techniques for activating students' background knowledge.

2.6.2. Teachers' Questionnaire Analysis

Section One: Background Information

Q1. What is your qualification?

Table 2.10 Teachers' Qualification

Response	Participants	Percentage
a- Licence	12	80%
b- Master	3	20%
c- Magister	0	0%
Total	15	100%

This question was addressed to know the teacher's qualification or degree of education. The results show that the majority of targeted population (80%) has a Bachelor degree (licence), while (20%) of them got a Master degree and none of them hold the magiter degree. Thus, this degree shows that they are well-educated and informed about what is going on in the classroom.

Q2. How long have you been teaching English?



Figure 2.1 Teachers' Teaching Experience

The aim of this question is to knowhow long they have been teaching English as part time teachers. The results showed that 8 participants taught less than five years, whereas 6 of them taught from five to less than ten years and only one teacher had an experience of ten years or more. Therefore, all of them have enough experience that enables them to teach primary school syllabus and to evaluate the strengths and the weaknesses of "My Book of English".

Q3. How many pupils do you have in 3AP classes in average?



Figure 2.2 The Total Number of the Pupils in Each Class

As revealed in the figure, the number of pupils in all the classes is big and the highest percentage (46.66%) was between 31 and 35. Generally, it seems that the classes are somehow crowded, and this makes classroom management a hard task for several teachers. Hence, it is impossible for them to apply the program effectively.

Section Two: General Evaluation of "My Book of English" Textbook

Q4. To what extent are you satisfied with "My Book of English" Textbook?



Figure 2.3Teachers' Overall Impression of "My Book of English"

The figure above demonstrated that over half of the teachers (60%) are significantly satisfied with third-year primary education textbook. However, (33.33%) of them are moderately satisfied and only (6.66%) are extremely satisfied. This implies that the majority of primary school teachers find it appropriate and suitable to the pupils' abilities and needs.



Q5. Do you think the textbook needs improvement?

Figure 2.4 The Textbook's Need of Improvement

From the findings presented in the figure above, we noticed that the majority of teachers (73.33%) claimed that the textbook needed improvement. Conversely, only four teachers stated the opposite. Even though the majority are satisfied with this new version textbook, some adaptations and improvements are still needed to attain the objectives underlined in the program.

Q6. If "Yes", what would you recommend?

Regarding the textbook's needed improvements, teachers suggested that the aims and objectives should be stated clearly at the beginning of each lesson and the problem solving situations have to be stated clearly at the beginning of each sequence. Listening scripts should be easier and shorter and theillustrations need to be functional. Q7. Do you have a teacher's guide?



Figure 2.5 Teachers Possession of Teacher's Guide

As can be seen from the figure, all the respondents have the teacher's guide. This implies that the textbook is accompanied with supporting materials which are the constant reference that guides the teacher and also contributes to the delivery of goals in a simplified way.

Q8. If "Yes", to what extent do you think it is helpful (it gives useful and complete guidance, along with alternative activities)?



Figure 2.6 Teachers' Evaluation of the Teacher's Guide

According to the obtained results, the participants are not in favour of the teacher's book because only one teacher found it extremely helpful and three of them found it significantly helpful. In other side, (60%) of the participants chose moderately, and (13.33%) answered with not at all. This means that the majority of third-year primary school teachers are not satisfied with the teacher's book. Thus, it does not provide enough guidance along with alternative activities.

Section Three: Detailed Evaluation of the Textbook

Please, respond to the following statements by: *strongly agree (SA), agree (A), disagree (D) or strongly disagree (SD)*

General Appearance (Q1-Q8)



Figure 2.7 Teachers' Evaluation of the General Appearance of 3AP Textbook

Questions from 1 to 8 aimed at finding out the teachers' views of the 3AP textbook's appropriateness in terms of the general appearance. As shown in the figure, the majority of teachers agreed that each lesson was entitled appropriatly, were satisfied with its cover and font sizeand concured on its font type and durability in use. In addition, all the participants strongly disagreed about the orientation page, table of contents and the textbook's glossary. This negative view showed that the textbook is not appropriate in these features which need to be adapted and adjusted.

Layout and Design (Q9-Q15)



Figure 2.8 Teachers' Evaluation of the Layout and Design of 3AP Textbook

Based on the results displayed in the figure, the majority of 3AP teachers (73.33%) viewed that the layout and design was appropriate and clear, as well as the textbook was well-organized. In addition, (46.66%) of them claimed that there was enough white space to achieve clarity and the textbook was clearly structured and sequenced. Moreover, (80%) of them strongly agreed that the colours of the textbook are attractive. Furthermore, (60%) of them agreed that there was consistency in the use of headings, icons, labels, italics and others and the materials provided sufficient opportunities for independent learning.

Overall, it is evident that the textbook fulfills all the above criteria. This indicates that its layout and design was suitable and good.

Teachability (Q16-Q18)



Figure 2.9 Teachers' Evaluation of the Textbook's Teachability

The findings presented in the figure revealed that more than half of the sample (53.33%) disagreed on the first item "does the textbook minimize the teacher's preparation time?" Besides, (46.66%) of the teachersagreed that the textbook activities meet the pupils' expectations. In addition, (66.66%) of them stated that the textbook fit mixed ability pupils and classes of different sizes. In summary, the majority of 3AP teachers think that the teachability of the textbook has not been totally achieved.

Level (Q19-Q24)



Figure 2.10 The Suitability of the Textbook to 3AP Level

According to the results displayed in the figure, most of the informants (73.33%) agreed that the textbook content was suitable to the level of 3AP pupils.Regarding the language and writing activities used in the textbook, (40%) of them reported that they were suitable to the pupils' level. In addition, (66.66%) of teachers disagreed on that the reading passages andtasks were convenient to the level of pupils. Moreover, less than half of the sample stated that the listening and speaking activities were suitable to the level of 3AP pupils.

Broadly speaking, the results showed that most of primary school teachers of English have positive perceptions of the suitability of the textbook for 3AP level except for the reading passages and taskswhich are somehow long and beyond the learners' level; thus, a slight adaptation, modification and improvement is needed concerning this skill.



Felixibility (Q25)

Figure 2.11 Teachers' Evaluation of the Flexibility of 3AP Textbook

Concerning the flexibility criterion, the majority of the participants (73.33% agree and 20% of them strongly agree) supported that the textbook was appealing and useful to the learners. Only (6.66%) do not agree with this statement. This positive results show how much the textbook is flexible.



TeachingMethods (Q26-Q30)

Figure 2.12 Teachers' Evaluation of the Teaching Methods

As illustrated in the figure above, (60%) of the respondents viewed that the teaching methods were updated. (86.66%) of them thought that the textbook was based on learner-centered methods. (46.66%) of them confirmed that the methods allowed more pupils' time talk. However, (40%) of them disagreed with this statement which means that the teacher's time talk is more than the pupils one. Moreover, (53.33%) of them said that the methods allowed various class activities. Finally, (60%) of them agreed that the suggested methodology was appropriate for young pupils. In short, the majority of 3AP teachers showed satisfaction towards all the aforementioned statements; however, there are rather high rates of disagreementsregarding the three last statements.

Objectives (Q31-Q37)



Figure 2.13 Teachers' Evaluation of the Textbook Objectives

As depicted from the figure above, (46.66%) of teachers agreed that the textbook fulfills the general objectives of teaching English language both in Algeria and for third-year primary school level. They also said that those objectives set explicitly in the textbook. (53.33%) of them reported that the objectives met primary school pupils' needs, interestsand individual differences. However, (46.66%) of the respondents demonstrated that the objectives did not make balance between the language four skills and (53.33%) of them declared that they were not clear and precise.

In summary, teachers' opinions in terms of textbook objectives were different.They totally agreed on four statements and they were not completely satisfied with the rest ones. That is to say, the objectives were not as clear and precise as they should be as well as they should make balance between all the language skills.



Textbook Topics (Q38-Q40)

Figure 2.14 Teacher's Evaluation of the Textbook Topics

Regarding the topic contents,(53.33%) of teachersclaimed that the topics of the textbook were varied and engaging. In addition, (66.66%) of them highlighted that the textbook avoided sensitive topics. Furthermore, (80%) of them agreed that the selected topics related to the pupils' daily life. It is obvious that the textbook deems to be appropriate and effective in terms of its topic contents.

TextbookLanguage (Q41-Q48)



Figure 2.15Teacher's Evaluation of the Textbook Language

As could be seen from the figure above, (46.66%) of the teachers reported that the textbook was based on authentic language and it covered the main grammar items appropriate to third-year primary school level. In addition, (80%) of them stated that grammar was introduced implicitly and (86.66%) confirmed that there were new lexical items for each sequence. Over half of the population (60%) believed that there was a good distribution of vocabulary in the whole textbook and pronunciation was presented through other types of activities, such as listening, dialogues and others. Otherwise, (60%) of the informants disagreed that the textbook include adequate materials for pronunciation and (40%) of them said that the language functions used were not interesting.

On the whole, there are positive attitudes towards the textbook language content; however, there is a disagreement at the level of the second and the seventh statements.



Skills (Q49-Q54)

Figure 2.16 Teachers' Evaluation of the Language Skills

It can be seen from the figure above that (46.66%) of the teachers agreed on that the four skills were adequately covered and there were sufficient, varied and interesting speaking materials. Besides, (53.33%) of them strongly agreed that the textbook includes appropriate listening tasks. In contrast, (53.33%) of them stated that there was no sequence for integrated skills and (66.66% -73.33%) of them said that there were no sufficient, varied and interesting writing and reading materials.

In general terms, the participants have positive views towards the skills of speaking and listening and they feel negative about reading and writing. This means that the materials related to these skills are not enough; thus, there should be a room for improvements at the level of these two teaching points.



Activities (Q55-Q60)

Figure 2.17 Teachers' Evaluation of the Activities

As can be deduced from the figure above, (53.33%) of the participants agreed that the textbook provided a variety of exercises real life situations to practise the language items and skills. In addition, (60%) confirmed that the exercises were sufficient, appropriate to the pupils'cognitive abilities and they promote their creative and independent responses. Moreover, (73.33%) of them stated that the exercises were clearly directed and (80%) of them highlighted that they incorporated individual, pair and group work.

All in all, the results revealed that the majority of 3AP teachers' attitudes towards the textbook activities were positive. Therefore, they are effective, appropriate and match the primary school pupils' needs and level. Social and Cultural Aspects (Q61-Q64)





As observed from the table above, (60%) of the teachers agreed that the social and cultural contexts in the textbook were comprehensible. In addition, (80%) of them stated that the textbook helped to foster pupils' awareness of international and domestic issues, as well as its content displayed different cultures, traditions and customs. Moreover, (53.33%) of them highlighted that the content helped learners be aware of how to interact within a new cultural context. In brief, it is clear that most teachers seemed to be satisfied with the textbook in terms of the social and cultural aspects.

Illustrations (Q65-Q69)



Figure 2.19 Teachers' Evaluation of the Illustrations

Concerning the illustrations used in the textbook, teachers had different attitudes and responses. (80%) of the teachers agreed that the illustrations enhance pupils' motivation. Besides, (66.66%) of them reported that they are attractive. In addition, (60%) of them stated that they contribute to the meaningfulness of content

and facilitate pupils' visualizations. However, (53.33%) of the informants disagreed that the illustrations were functional. This means that the use of some illustrations were meaningless.

In general, the teachers' opinions were positive regarding the use of illustrations in the primary school textbook. Conversely, more than the half of the participants stated that not all the illustrations are functional. Hence, they do not effectively illustrate the targeted teaching points.

2.7 Discussion of the Main Findings

The fieldwork was carried out by textbook evaluation and teachers' questionnaire to test the hypothesis and find out their opinions about the topic being discussed. Overall, the results obtained from the analysis proved that the textbook had many positives as well as some problems that need to be adjusted. According to the evaluation checklist, it could be concluded that the layout and physical appearance, the content, the objectives, the structures and vocabulary were appropriate as a textbook for the primary school pupils.

Additionally, the instructions in the material were sufficient and clear. Moreover, the teacher's manual helped the teachers understand the objectives of the textbook. However, these results implied that there were weaknesses in language type, skills, activities and tasks, cultural values and teacher's needs. On this ground, these findings helped us in answering the first research question (does the English textbook of third-year primary school fulfil the criteria of a 'good textbook'?) showing that it is generally appropriate and effective; especially in terms of the layout and physical appearance, the content, the objectives, the structures and vocabulary and other features.

The findings of the teachers' questionnaire were generally positive concerning the use of the coursebook "My Book of English". In this light, we accepted our hypothesis: if primary school teachers of English have positive attitudes towards the textbook, then it would be suitable and appropriate as a teaching material. Indeed, teachers supported most of the tested criteria, including the general appearance, layout and design, teachability, level, felixibility, teaching methods, objectives, topics, language, skills, activities and tasks, social and cultural aspects, and illustrations. These criteria provided us an answer to the second research question (How do teachers evaluate this textbook?).

However, they disagreed on some major points. First, there was no informative orientation page, no table of contents and no glossary. Then, the textbook did not minimize the teacher's preparation time. Besides, the reading passages and tasks were not suitable and there were no sufficient, varied and interesting writing, reading and pronunciation materials. In addition, the objectives were not clear and precise and they did not make balance between the language four skills. Moreover, the language functions used were not interesting

2.8 Suggestions and Pedagogical Implications

Based on the results obtained from this study, the following points are recommended:

• Time allocation for English subject should be increased.

• Pupils' number should be decreased to 20 or 25 in each class.

•Materials such as computers, copies, data show and other technical tools should be accompanied with the coursebook to facilitate the process of teaching and learning English.

•Topics should fit the aim of communication. They should be selected in a way that enables pupils to talk freely and confidently because this will encourage them to practice the language perfectly.

•There should be sufficient, varied, and interesting writing and reading materials. As these skills are interrelated, the textbook should include stories and funny jokes which enable pupils to learn more lexical items and grammar points that will be used in their written production in the comming years. •Pupils should be given the opportunity to listen to English used in everyday situations to train them gradually listen and understand the speech of native speakers. This will be achieved by audio equipments: tapes, songs, films, videos, interviews, even CDs of phonetics and so on.

•Adding communicative exercises, that enrich pupils' vocabulary and enhance their speaking performance such as puzzles, games, crosswords, will create a positive atmosphere full of joy and entertainment.

•Teachers should adapt the textbook's tasks according to the pupils' needs and abilities.

•It is better to have two books for the English subject. One for the presentation of courses and the other one for the tasks and exercises.

2.9 Limitations of the Study

The current research, like any research, has some limitations that hindered its application and findings. These limitations are summarized in the following points:

- This study is limited to public primary schools in Naama. Therefore, it is not possible to generalize the gained results to all the other Algerian praimary schools.

- It is a macro level evaluation study; however, it can be complemented with a micro evaluation study. The latter is a task level evaluation which can be done by observation tools, task evaluation sheets and journal keeping to see how tasks and activities work in the classroom. Accordingly, a combination of both macro and micro evaluation studies will provide extensive feedback and help to identify both weaknesses and strengths of the concerned material.

- As it is the first study conducted to evaluate "My Book of English" textbook, the results need to be checked and testified by larger group of teachers and learners from different regions of Algeria.

2.10 Conclusion

This chapter was developed to provide an overview of a research design and data analysis. It deals with the objective of this research work. It was also concerned with describing the research instruments and data analysis methods, it aimed at analyzing the data collection and presented the results.

General Conclusion

General Conclusion

The present study attempted to evaluate "My Book of English" of the thirdyearprimaryschool. It aimed to identify its strengths and weaknesses and to examineits suitability and appropriateness to the process of language teaching and learning. It comprised both a theoretical and a practical part. The theoretical part comprised one chapter that reviews the related literature about teaching English in the Algerian context in general and in primary schools specifically, as well astextbook evaluation in ELT. The second chapter which constituted the practical side of this work reported the findings of the study and their analyses.

The field work was carried out by textbook evaluation and teachers' questionnaire to test the hypothesis and find out their opinions about the topic being discussed. Overall, the results obtained from the analysis proved that the textbook had many positives as well as some problems that need to be adjusted. According to the evaluation checklist, it could be concluded that the layout and physical appearance, the content, the objectives, the structures and vocabulary were appropriate as a textbook for the primary school pupils.

Additionally, the instructions in the material were sufficient and clear. Moreover, the teacher's manual helped the teachers understand the objectives of the textbook. However, these results implied that there was weaknesses in language type, skills, activities and tasks, cultural values and teacher's needs. On this ground, these findings helped us in answering the first research question (does the English textbook of third-year primary school fulfil the criteria of a 'good textbook'?) showing that it is generally appropriate and effective; especially in terms of the layout and physical appearance, the content, the objectives, the structures and vocabulary and other features.

The findings of the teachers' questionnaire were generally positive concerning the use of the coursebook "My Book of English". In this light, we accepted our hypothesis: if primary school teachers of English have positive attitudes towards the textbook, then it would be suitable and appropriate as a teaching material. Indeed, teachers supported most of the tested criteria, including the general appearance, layout and design, teachability, level,felixibility,teaching methods, objectives, topics, language, skills, activities and tasks, social and cultural aspects,and illustrations. These criteria provided us an answer to the second research question (How do teachers evaluate this textbook?).

However, they disagreed on some major points. First, there was no informative orientation page, no table of contents and no glossary. Then, the textbook did not minimize the teacher's preparation time. Besides, the reading passages and tasks were not suitable and there were no sufficient, varied and interesting writing, reading and pronunciation materials. In addition, the objectives were not clear and precise and they did not make balance between the language four skills. Moreover, the language functions used were not interesting.

This study is a macro level evaluation study; however, it can be complemented with a micro evaluation study. The latter is a task level evaluation, which can be done by observation tools, task evaluation sheets and journal keeping so as tosee how tasks and activities work in the classroom. Accordingly, a combination of both macro and micro evaluation studies will provide extensive feedback and help to identify both weaknesses and strengths of the concerned material in further research.

Bibliography

Bibliography

-Allwright, R.L. (1981). What do we want teaching materials for?.*ELT Journal,* 36(1), 5-18.

- Al-sowat, H. (2012). An evaluation of English language textbook "Say It In English" for first year intermediate grade in Saudi Arabia. *Journal of Studies in Curriculum and Supervision*, *3*(2), 332-413.

-Arab. S. (2015). The impact of French in teaching and learning English in Algeria: Case of third year Licence EFL students at the university of Algiers, Oran and Tlemcen (Master's thesis, University of Tlemcen, Tlemcen, Algeria).Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/c93e/337e9f110775fbcab5099f953b54c47edf40. -Arthur, J., &Cremir, T. (2010). Learning to teach in primary school (2nd ed.). New York: Rutledge.

- Awasthi, J. R. (2006). Textbook and its evaluation. *Journal of NELTA, 11* (1-2), 1-10.

-Azevedo, M.M. (1978). Trends in elementary Spanish texts. *The Modern Language Journal*, 62(8), 399-407.

-Belaid, B.(2014)*Strategy-Based Instruction in EFL WritingWith Close Reference* to Third –YearSecondary school Students(Case of Literary Streams at BesghirLakhdar Secondary School,*Tlemcen.*) Magister thesis,university of *Tlemcen.Retrieved from http://dspace.univ-tlemcen.dz/handle/112/6344?mode=full* -Belmihoub, K. (2018). English in a multilingual Algeria. *World Englishes*, *37*(2), 1-22. https://doi.org/10.1111/weng.12294.

-Boukhlef, A. (2022, October). Algeria introduces English at primary level to counterbalance French. Orient XXI. Retrieved from

https://orientxxi.info/magazine/algeria-introduces-english-at-primary-level-tocounterbalance-french, 5962. -Boumella, A., &Bouhzem, F. (2017). *An evaluation of the first middle school English language textbook My Book of English* (Master's thesis, university of Jijel, Algeria). Retrieved from

http://dspace.univ-jijel.dz:8080/xmlui/bitstream/handle/123456789/6739/An% 20Evaluation%20of%20the%20First%20Middle%20School%20English%20Langua ge%20Textbook%20My%20Book%20of%20English.pdf

-Broughton, G., Brumfit, C., Flavell, R., Hill, P., &Pincas, A. (2003). Teaching English as a foreign language. London: Rutledge.

-Brown, S. D. (1995). The element of language curriculum. Boston: Heinle and Heinle publisher.

-Byrd, P. (2001). Textbooks: Evaluation and selection and analysis for implementation. In M. Celce-Murcia (Ed.), *Teaching English as a second or foreign language* (3rd ed.). Boston: Heinle&Heinle.

-Cameron, L. (2001). Teaching language to young learners. New York: Cambridge University Press.

-Candling, C. N., & Breen, M. P. (1979). Evaluating and designing language teaching materials. *Practical Papers in English Language Education*, 2 (1), 1-46.

-Chemami, M.A. (2011). Discussing plurilingualism in Algeria: The status of French and English languages through the educational policy. *International Journal of Arts & Sciences*, *4*(18), 227-234.

-Chuang, M. (2001). *Teaching and learning English in kindergartens in Kaohsiung* (Doctoral dissertation, University of Bielefeld, Germany). Retrieved from https://pub.uni-bielefeld. de/download/2302988/2302991/0056.pdf.

-Copland, F., Garton, S., & Burns, A. (2014). Challenges in teaching English to young learners. *TESOLQuarterly*, 48(4), 738-762.

-Crystal, D. (2003). English as a global language. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
-Cunningsworth, A. (1984). Evaluating and selecting EFL teaching materials. London: Heinemann.

-Cunningsworth, A. (1995). Choosing your coursebook. Oxford: Heinemann.

- Djebbari, Z. (2020). Language policy in Algeria: An outlook into reforms. *AL-Lisaniyyat*, 26(1), 467-481.

-Ellis, R. (1997). The empirical evaluation of language teaching materials. *ELT Journal*, *51*(1), 36-42.

- Grant, M. (1987). Making the most of your textbook. London: Longman.

-Graves, K. (2000). Designing language course: A guide for teachers. Boston: Heinle&Heinle.

-Harmer, J. (1991). The practice of English language teaching. New York: Longman.

-Harmer, J. (2007). The practice of English language teaching. Edinburgh: Pearson Education LTd.

-Harmer, J. (2012). Essential teacher knowledge: Core concepts in English language teaching. Essex: Pearson Education Limited.

-Henache, D. (2022).Teaching English in Algerian primary schools: Education Directorates hire Bachelor's graduates. Retrieved from <u>https://www.echoroukonline.com/teaching-english-in-algerian-primary-</u> schools-education-directorates-hire-bachelors-graduates.

-Hutchinson, T. (1987). What's underneath? An interactive view of the material evaluation. In L.E Sheldon (Ed.), *ELT textbook materials: Problems in evaluation and development* (37-44). Oxford : Modern English Publications.

- Hutchinson, T., & Waters, A. (1987). English for specific purposes: A learnercentered approach. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. -Hutchinson, T., & Torres, E. (1994). The textbook as agent of change. *ELT Journal*, 48(4), 315-328.

- Hycroft, J. (1998). An introduction to English language teaching. Longman.

-Hyland, K. (2007). Second language writing (3rded.).Cambridge: Cambridge University.

-Khamari, M.J., Guru, N., Tiwari, S.K., Sahu, N., Hanspal, P., Hadke, K., & Naidu, S. (2014). An investigation into the problems of teaching English at primary level. *Journal of Research & Method in Education, 4*(1), 30-42.

-Law of the Republic of Indonesia Number 14, 2005 on Teachers and Lecturers. Retrieved from

https://www.unesa.ac.id/files/57cefa2fbaceb70461e24584420cc311/LAW%20OF% 20THE%20REPUBLIC%20OF%20INDONESIA%20NUMBER%2014%20YEAR %202005.pdf

-Lee, J.C.K.; Sze, C., & Chun, K.W. (1998). Teachers' use and adaptation of TOC English textbooks. *Journal of Basic Education*, 8 (1), 1-20.

-Lyons, D. (2017, March). How many people speak English, and where is it spoken? Babbel Magazine. Retrieved March 31, 2023, from https://www.babbel.com/en/magazine/how-many-people-speak-english-and-where-is-it-spoken.

-Manseur, R. (2020). Introducing the English language in the Algerian primary schools: Teachers, parents and pupils' attitudes (Doctoral dissertation, University of Tlemcen, Tlemcen, Algeria). Retrieved from

http://file:///C:/Users/DELL/Desktop/primary%20education/raouiamanseur%20(1). pdf

- McDonough, J., & Shaw, C. (1993). Materials and methods in ELT: A teacher's guide. Malden: Blackwell.

- McDonough, J., & Shaw, C. (2003). Materials and methods in ELT. A teacher's guide (2nded.). Malden: Blackwell.

-McGrath, I. (2002). Materials evaluation and design for language teaching. Edinburgh University Press.

- Middle East Monitor Organization. (2022). *Algeria to start teaching English language at primary school level*.

Retrieved from <u>https://www.middleeastmonitor.com/20220621-algeria-to-start-</u> teaching-english-language-at-primary-school-level/.

-Miliani, M. (2000). Teaching English in a multilingual context: *The Algerian case*. *Mediterranean Journal of Educational Studies*, 6 (1), 13-29.

-Miliani, M. (2010). Between enduring hardships and fleeting ideals. *Mediterranean Journal of Educational Studies*, 15(2), 65-76.

-Moon, J. (2005). Children learning English: A guidebook for English language teachers. London: Macmillan.

-Nation, P. (1996). The four strands of a language course. *TESOL in Context*, *6*(2), 7-12.

-O'Neill, R. (1982). Why use textbooks?. ELT Journal, 36 (2), 104-111.

-Park, E. (2004). A study on English textbook used in a technical high school: Issues in EFL. *TEFLIN Journal, 3*, 12-30.

-Pinter, A. (2006). Teaching young language learners. New York: Oxford University Press.

-Ravitch, D. (2003). The language police: How pressure groups restrict what students learn. New York: Alfred A. Knopf.

-Read, C. (2003). Is younger better?. English Teaching professional, 28(1), 5–7.

- Rea-Dickens, P. & Germaine, K. (1992). Evaluation. Oxford University press.

-Richards, J. C. (2001). The role of textbooks in a language program. Retrieved from://www.professor Jack Richards.com/wp-content/upload/role-oftextbook.pdf.

Richards, J. C. (2006). Communicative language teaching today.Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

-Richards, J. C., & Schmidt, R. (2002). Longman dictionary of language teaching and applied linguistics (3rd ed.). London: Pearson Education Limited.

-Richards, J.C., & Schmidt, R. (2010). Longman dictionary of language teaching & applied linguistics (4th ed.). Pearson Education.

-Rivers, W.M. (1981). Teaching foreign language skills. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.

-Sarem, S. N., Hamidi, H., &Mahmoudie, R. (2013). A critical look at textbook evaluation: a case study of evaluating an ESP course-book: English for international tourism. *International Research Journal of Applied and Basic Science (IRJABS),* 4(2), 372-380

-Sawin, E.I. (1969). Evaluation and the work of teachers. USA: Wordsworth.

-Schissler,H.(1990). Limitations and priorities for international social studies textbook research. *International Journal of Social Education*, *4* (3), 81-89.

-Scott, W.A., &Ytreberg, L.H. (2004). Teaching English to children. New York: Longman.

-Septy, A.P. (2003). Assumptions, and evidence about introducing English in Indonesia primary schools (Thesis, University of Bung Hatta, Padang, Indonesia). Retrieved from https://aaref.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/07-03.pdf

-Sheldon, L. E. (1988). Evaluating ELT textbooks and materials. *ELT journal*, 42(4), 237-246.

-Singleton, D. (2003). Age and the acquisition of English as a foreign language. Great Britain: Cromwell Press. -Skierso, A. (1991). Textbook selection and evaluation. In M. Celce-Murcia (Ed.), *Teaching English as a second or foreign language* (pp. 432-453). Heinle&Heinle.

-Slimani, S. (2016). Teaching English as a foreign language in Algeria. *Revue des Sciences Humaines*, 1(44), 33-44.

-Suyanto, K. (2010). English for young learners. Jakarta: BumiAksara.

-Swan, M. (1992). The textbook: Bridge or wall?. *Applied Linguistics and Language Teaching*, 2(1), 5-32.

-Tamrabet, L., Boukri, N., Hammoudi, A., &Smara, A. (2016). Teacher's guide middle school year one. Ministry of National Education.

-Tomlinson, B. (1998). Comments on part C. In B. Tomlinson (Ed.), *Materials development in language teaching* (pp.296-303). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

-Tomlinson, B. (2003). Materials evaluation. In B.Tomlinson (Ed), *Developing materials for language teaching* (pp. 15-36). London: Continuum.

-Ur, P. (1996). A course in language teaching: Practice and theory. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

-Utomo, D. (2009). Arsip as national identity: A case of Indonesia. Advisor, Indonesian Arsiparis Association (AAI). Retrieved from http://ica2012.ica.org/files/pdf/Full%20papers %20upload/ica12Final00096.pdf.

-Valverde, G., Bianchi, L., Wolfe, R., Schmidt, W., &Houang, R. (2002). According to the book: Using TIMSS to investigate the translation of policy into practice through the world of textbooks. London: Kluwer Academic Publishers.

-Wei-pei, W. (2008). *Teaching English to young learners in Taiwan: Issues relating to teaching, teacher education, teaching materials and teacher perspectives* (Doctoral dissertation. University of Waikato, Taiwan) Retrieved from

https://researchcommons.waikato.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10289/2547/thesis.pdf?seq uence=1&isAllowed=y.

-Williams, D. (1983). Developing criteria for textbook evaluation. *ELT journal*, 37(3), 251-255.

-Zabawa, J. (2001). Criteria for FCE textbook evaluation: An attempt at questionnaire formulation. *STUDIA ANGLICA RESOVIENSIA, 42* (2), 161-169. Retrieved from http:// www.univ.rzeszow.P//filang/wsar2/sar-V2-17.pdf.

Appendices

Appendix A: Textbook Evaluation Checklist

To find out the strengths and weaknesses of the 3 AP coursebook of English and whether it meets the aims of the syllabus and the learners' needs, the checklist used in this study is the modification of Cunningsworth's (1995) checklist developed by Al-sowat (2012). It covers the following areas: (1) layout and physical appearance; (2) content; (3) objectives; (4) language type; (5) skills; (6) activities and tasks; (7) structure and vocabulary; (8) culture values; and (9) teacher's needs.In each dimension, several statements provided and the textbook was graded for each statement by the rating scales range from one up to five, where 1 = very poor (VP), 2 = poor (P), 3 = quite good (QG), 4 = good (G) and 5 = very good (VG).

1 .The Layout and Physical Appearance of the Textbook

Statements	VP	P	QG	G	VG
1. The textbook is durable (quality of paper and binding).					
2. The size of the textbook seems convenient for students to					
handle.					
3. The cover of the textbook is appealing.					
4. The main headings and subheadings are well-organized.					
5. The units are well organized and offer easy progression.					
6. The textbook contains enough pictures, diagrams, tables etc					
helping the students understand the printed texts.					
7. Illustrations, tables, figures, graphs, etc. are relevant and					
functional.					
8. An adequate vocabulary list or glossary is included.					
9. The instructions in the textbook are written in a simple and					
clear language.					
10. The material contains an adequate indices and appendices.					
11. The textbook is provided with the necessary audio-visual					
aids, which help students learn the four skills in an integrated					
way.					

2. The Content of the Textbook

Statements	VP	Р	QG	G	VG
1. The textbook contains an appropriate table of content.					
2. The content does not conflict with students' social beliefs					
3. The content does not conflict with students' background.					
4. The textbook covers most language skills.					
5. The subject matter is presented either topically or functionally					
in a logical, organized manner.					

6. There is sufficient variety in the subject and content of the		
textbook		
7. The content promotes students' involvement		
8. The content contains real-life issues that challenge the reader		
to think critically about his/her worldview.		
9. The topics are familiar to the learners.		
10. The content of the material is interesting and motivating.		
11. The content promotes students' involvement.		
12. The textbook is appropriate for the learners' level.		
13. The material encourages a positive attitude towards gender.		
(e.g. stereotyping occupation or use of gender bias words like		
chairman instead of chairperson).		
14. The textbook encourages a positive attitude		
towardsenvironmental issues		
15. The textbook contains self-check progress report.		

3. The Objectives of the Textbook

Statements	VP	P	QG	G	VG
1. The objectives in the textbook are clear and precise for the					
learners.					
2. The objectives are gradual in difficulty.					
3. The objectives are realistic.					
4. The objectives of the materials correspond to the needs of					
the learners.					
5. The objectives demonstrate the various levels of Bloom's					
taxonomy.					
6. The objectives recognize individual differences.					
7. The objectives of the materials suit the level of the learners.					
8. The objectives can be covered within the time allocated for					
the textbook.					

4. The Language Type of the Textbook

Statements	VP	P	QG	G	VG
1. The language used in the textbook is authentic i.e. like real-					
life English.					
2. The textbook includes materials for pronunciation work.					
3. There is an emphasis on language use.					
4. Learners are given examples of ways they can use their					
foreign language in the future beyond the school experience.					
5. New and critical concepts are defined in the glossary or					

explained when they are first introduced in the lesson.			
6. The language used is at the level of the learners.			

5. The Language Skills of the Textbook

Statements	VP	Р	QG	G	VG
1. The material provides the four language skills					
2. The textbook pays attention to writing activities such as					
controlled, guided, and free paragraphs					
3. The materials for listening are accompanied by activities					
which help comprehension.					
4. The materials for spoken English (dialogues, role play,					
communication activities etc are designed to equip learners for					
real-life interaction.					
5. The reading lessons are associated with the PDP model.					
6. Relevant skills are catered for in the textbook such as					
critical thinking, problem solving etc.					

6. The Activities and Tasks in the Textbook

Statements	VP	P	QG	G	VG
1. There are a variety of activities in the textbook					
2. The instructions in the material are sufficient.					
3. The instructions in the material are clear.					
4. There are instructions to explain how the exercise should be					
done.					
5. The number of activities is suitable					
6. There are interactive activities that require students to use					
new vocabulary to communicate.					
7. The textbook provides communicative exercises that enable					
learners to carry out their communicative tasks in real-life					
situations.					
8. There is a balance between the activities for language and					
activities for skills					
9. An adequate set of evaluation quizzes or testing suggestions					
is included.					

7. The Structures and Vocabulary in the Textbook

Statements	VP	P	QG	G	VG
1. The grammatical structures are presented in a logical					
manner and in increasing order of difficulty.					
2. The new structure is integrated in varying contexts and					
situations					
3. The grammatical points are presented with brief and easy					
examples and explanations.					
4. The vocabulary load seems to be reasonable for the level of					
the learners.					
5. There is sufficient written practice of the grammatical					
concepts that lead to communicative use of the language.					
6. The progression of vocabulary items is appropriate.					
7. The new structure is repeated in subsequent lessons for					
reinforcement.					
8. The vocabulary is functional, thematic, authentic, and					
practical					
9. There is sufficient oral practice of the grammatical concepts					
that leads to communicative use of the language.					
10. The new vocabulary words are presented in a variety of					
ways.					
11. The new vocabulary words are presented at an appropriate					
rate so that the text is understandable.					

8. The Cultural Values in the Textbook

Statements	VP	P	QG	G	VG
1. The content suits the learners' current knowledge and					
culture.					
2. The teaching of the target culture motivates the learners					
to explore their own culture.					
3. The content serves as a window into learning about the					
target language culture (American, British, etc.).					

9. The Teachers' Needs

Statements	VP	P	QG	G	VG
1 The use of the material is easily manageable by the					
teacher.					
2. The teacher's manual suggests an appropriate, concise					
method for teaching each lesson.					

3. The design of the materials allows the teachers to use them differently according to the needs of different				
learners.				
4. The teacher's manual helps the teachers understand the				\checkmark
objectives of the textbook.				
5. The manual gives instructions on how to incorporate				
audio-visual materials produced for the textbook.				
6. The manual provides additional exercises for reinforcing	-	$\overline{\mathbf{V}}$		
various language skills in the textbook.				
7. Teachers are given techniques for activating students'	-	$\overline{\mathbf{V}}$		
background knowledge.				
8. The tests and assessment devices are helpful to the	-	$\overline{\mathbf{V}}$		
teacher.				
9. The manual provides teachers with alternative and	-	\checkmark		
authentic assessment techniques				

Appendix B: Teachers' Questionnaire

Dearteachers,

The present questionnaire serves as a data collection for a research work that aims at investigating the suitability of the textbook "My Book of English" that you are actually using. I would be really thankful if you could share your experience with us by answering the following questions. Your answers are very important for the validity of the research.

Please tick ($\sqrt{}$) to choose your responses.

Section One: Background Information

1. What is your qualification?
a. Licence b. Master c. Magister
2. How long have you been teaching English?
a. less than 5 years
b. from 5 years to less than 10 years
c.10 years or more
3. How many pupils do you have in 3AP classes in average?pupils
Section Two: General Evaluation of "My Book of English" Textbook
4. To what extent are you satisfied with "My Book of English" Textbook?
a. Extremely b. Significantly c. Moderately d. Not at all
5. Do you think the textbook needs improvement?
a. Yes b. No
6. If "Yes", what would you recommend?
7. Do you have a teacher's guide?
a. Yes b. No
8. If "Yes", to what extent do you think it is helpful (it gives useful and complete
guidance, along with alternative activities)?

a. Extremely b. Significantly c. Moderately d. Not at all

Section Three: Detailed Evaluation of the Textbook

9. Please, respond to the following statements by: strongly agree (SA), agree (A),

disagree (D) or strongly disagree (SD)

Statements	SA	A	D	SD
1. Is the textbook's cover informative and attractive?				
2. Is the font size appropriate for primary school level?				
3. Is the font type appropriate for primary school level?				
4. Is there an informative orientation page?				
5. Does the textbook include table of contents?				
6. Is each lesson entitled appropriately?				
7. Does the textbook comprise an appropriate glossary?				
8. Is the textbook durable in use?				
9. Is the layout and design appropriate and clear?				
10. Is there enough white space to achieve clarity?				
11. Are the coloursattractive?				
12. Is there consistency in the use of headings, icons, labels, italics, etc?				
13. Is the textbook clearly structured and sequenced?				
14. Is the textbook well-organized?				
15. Are the materials provided sufficient opportunities for independent learning?				
16. Does the textbook minimize the teacher's preparation time?				
17. Does the textbook activities meet the pupils' expectations?				
18. Does the textbook fit mixed ability pupils and classes of different sizes?				
19. Is the textbook content suitable to the level of 3AP pupils?				
20. Is the language used suitable to 3AP pupils?				
21. Are the reading passages and tasks suitable to the level of 3AP pupils?				<u> </u>
22. Are the listening activities suitable to the level of 3AP pupils?				
23. Are the speaking activities suitable to the level of 3AP pupils?				
24. Are the writing activities suitable to the level of 3AP pupils?				

25. Is the textbook appealing and useful to the pupils?		
26. Are the teaching methods updated?		
27. Is the textbook based on learner-centered methods?		
28. Do the methods used allow more pupils' time talk?		
29. Do the methods used allow various class activities?		
30. Is the suggested methodology appropriate for young pupils ?		
 31. Does the textbook fulfill the general objectives of teaching English language in Algeria? 32. Does the textbook fulfill the general objectives of teaching English language for third-year primary school level? 33. Are the objectives set explicitly in the textbook? 		
34. Do the objectives meet pupils' needs and interests?		
35. Do the objectives make balance between the language four skills ?		
36. Do the objectives meet the pupils' individual differences?		
37. Are the objectives clear and precise?		
38. Are the textbook topics varied and engaging?		
39. Does the textbook avoid sensitive topics?		
40. Are the selected topics related to the pupils' daily life?		
41. Is the textbook based on authentic language?		
42. Are the language functions used seem to be interesting?		
43. Does the textbook cover the main grammar items appropriate to third- year primary school level?		
44. Is grammarintroducedimplicitly?		
45. Is there a good distribution of vocabulary in the whole textbook?		
46. Are there new lexical items for each sequence?		
47. Does the textbook include adequate materials for pronunciation?		
 48. Is pronunciation presented through other types of activities, such as listening, dialogues, etc? 40. Are the four skills a degree the second 2 		
49. Are the four skills adequately covered?	+	
50. Is there a sequence for integrated skills?	+	
51. Does the textbook have appropriate listening tasks?	+	
52. Are there sufficient, varied and interesting reading materials?	+	
53. Are there sufficient, varied and interesting speaking materials?		

54. Are there sufficient, varied and interesting writing materials?		
55. Does the textbook provide a variety of exercises to practise the language items and skills?		
56. Does the textbook provide communicative exercises on real life situations?		
57. Are the exercises clearly directed?		
58. Are the exercises sufficient and appropriate to the pupils' cognitive abilities?		
59. Do the activities incorporate individual, pair and group work?		
60. Do the activities promote creative and independent responses?		
61. Are the social and cultural contexts comprehensible?		
62. Does the textbook help to foster pupils' awareness of international and domestic issues?		
63. Does the content display different cultures, traditions and customs?		
64. Does the content help learners be aware of how to interact within a new cultural context?		
65. Are the illustrations varied and attractive?		
66. Do the illustrations contribute to the meaningfulness of content?		
67. Do the illustrations motivate pupils?		
68. Are the illustrations functional?	+	
69. Do the illustrations facilitate pupils' visualizations?		

Summary

This research evaluated the effectiveness of the textbook used in the third-year of primary school in Algeria. It aimed to gain insights into teachers' perceptions of that coursebook. To achieve this objective, a descriptive research design was implemented using a checklist along with teachers' questionnaire to gather data and test the validity of the research hypothesis which states that the textbook would be suitable and appropriate as a teaching material if teachers have positive attitudes towards it. The evaluation phase focuses on the strengths and weaknesses of the coursebook in terms of several criteria. The questionnaire was submitted to fifteen (15) third-year primary school teachers of English from Naama city. The results obtained revealed that teachers' opinions concerning the use of the textbook were positive. It generally suits the teachers' expectations; however, some disadvantages are undeniable.

Keywords: Textbook evaluation, checklist, questionnaire, third-year Primary School.

Résumé

La présente recherche a évalué l'efficacité du Manuel utilisé en troisième année du primaire en Algérie. Il visait à mieux comprendre les perceptions des enseignants à l'égard de ce manuel. Pour atteindre cet objectif, une conception de recherche descriptive a été mise en œuvre à l'aide d'une liste de contrôle et d'un questionnaire destiné aux enseignants pour recueillir des données et tester la validité de l'hypothèse de recherche selon laquelle le manuel serait approprié et approprié comme matériel pédagogique si les enseignants du primaire en anglais avoir des attitudes positives à son égard. La phase d'évaluation se concentre sur les forces et les faiblesses du manuel de cours en fonction de plusieurs critères. Le questionnaire a été soumis à quinze (15) professeurs d'anglais de troisième année du primaire de la ville de Naama. Les résultats obtenus ont révélé que les opinions des enseignants concernant l'utilisation du Manuel étaient positives. Il correspond généralement aux attentes des enseignants; cependant, certains inconvénients sont indéniables.

Mots-clés: évaluation des Manuels scolaires, liste de contrôle, questionnaire, troisième année primaire.

ملخص

الكلمات المفتاحية: تقييم الكتاب المدرسي ، قائمة التدقيق، الاستبيان ، السنة الثالثة ابتدائي.